SID J. WI OCT 7 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURE

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

APPEAL NO. 82,443 (L.T. CASE NO. CI93-1371)

JOHNIE A. McLEOD,

Appellant

IN THE MATTER OF:

ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Appellee/Plaintiff

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA, and the Taxpayers, Property Owners and Citizens of Orange County, Florida, including non-residents owning property or subject to taxation therein, and all others having or claiming any right, title or interest in property to be affected by the issuance of the Bonds, herein described, or to be affected thereby,

Defendants.

----/

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On August 6, 1991, Orange County enacted Ordinance 91-17 (AP-1). Said ordinance, known as the Public Services Tax (hereinafter sometimes referred to as "utilities tax") establishes and enacts a 10% tax upon certain enumerated utilities to be paid by the purchaser of said utilities. Said tax is levied only against those individuals residing and purchasing the enumerated utilities within the unincorporated areas of Orange County.

Orange County is a charter county, and as a charter county Orange County claims authority to enact said utilities tax pursuant to Florida Statutes, § 166.231. Said statute is a general law which authorizes the imposition of such utilities tax by the municipalities within the state of Florida.

On November 10, 1992, Orange County adopted Ordinance 92-35 (AP-2) which authorized the financing of capital projects within Orange County by the issuance of Public Service Tax Revenue Bonds payable from the revenues generated by the utilities tax.

On November 10, 1992, Orange County passed Resolution 92-B-10 (AP-3) and Resolution 92-B-11 (AP-4), hereinafter sometimes referred to jointly as the "bond resolutions". Said bond resolutions authorized the proceeds from said bonds

(\$30,000,000.00) to be utilized for the provision of capital improvements and governmental services throughout Orange County, regardless of location. The revenues generated by the utilities tax are to be the sole revenue source for the retirement of said Series 1993 Bonds. On February 25, 1993, Orange County filed its Complaint For Validation (AP-5) of said bonds. On March 24, 1993, the Honorable William C. Gridley issued the court's Order To Show Cause (AP-6) in the bond validation proceeding. Said Order To Show Cause was published twice in the Orlando Sentinel on April 29, 1993 and again on May 6, 1993.

A bond validation hearing was held below on June 4, 1993. As a result of said hearing, the Honorable William C. Gridley on June 23, 1993 entered the court's order validating said bonds (AP-7).

Johnie A. McLeod, as a resident and property owner in the unincorporated area of Orange County and being subject to and affected by the issuance of the subject bonds, timely filed a Motion For Rehearing or New Trial (AP-8). Subsequent to said filing, and before a judicial ruling thereon, Johnie A. McLeod filed his Addendum To Motion For New Trial Or Rehearing (AP-9).

Orange County filed an objection to said Addendum basing the objection on failure to follow the proper procedure for the filing of such an Addendum. Prior to any hearing on the objection of Orange County, Judge Gridley entered his Order (AP-10) denying Johnie A. McLeod's Motion For New Trial Or Rehearing.

From said order validating the subject bonds and the order denying the timely filed Motion For New Trial Or Rehearing, this appeal ensues. The nature of the Order appealed is a Final Judgment validating the subject bonds.

,ê

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

POINT I - ABSENT A GENERAL LAW SO EMPOWERING, ORANGE COUNTY AS A CHARTER COUNTY IS WITHOUT THE POWER OR AUTHORITY TO ENACT A PUBLIC SERVICE TAX PURSUANT TO FLORIDA STATUTES, \$166.231

The power to tax is an inherent and plenary power of the sovereign. Municipalities and counties, both charter and noncharter, are political subdivisions of and created by the state. Said political subdivisions have no inherent power to tax. Any authority for said political subdivisions to exercise the taxing power must be found in the Constitution and general laws of the state of Florida. Absent a Constitutional or general statutory grant of such power and authority all taxing powers are preempted by the state sovereign.

Article VIII, § 1(g) and Part II and Part IV of Chapter 125, Florida Statutes are the grant of power and enabling acts which allow a county to change its form of government to become a charter county. Neither Article VIII nor Chapter 125, Florida Statutes operate to grant to a charter county the power or authority to enact a utilities tax pursuant to Florida Statutes, § 166.231. Said statutory section specifically authorizes only municipalities to enact such a utilities tax within the confines of the municipality.

Imposition of such a utilities tax pursuant to Florida Statutes, § 166.231 by Orange County is not authorized by Florida Constitution Article VIII, § 1(g) and is repugnant to Article VII, §§ 1(a), 9(a); Article III, § 10; Article III, § 6; Article I, §§ 2, 9, 11; and is in violation of the 5th and 14th Amendments to the

Page 3

United States Constitution.

Absent a general law passed by the Legislature empowering charter counties to enact such a utilities tax and containing specified guidelines therein for the application of said utilities tax, charter counties are not authorized to enact such a utilities tax ordinance pursuant to Florida Statutes, § 166.231. Unless and until the Legislature so acts, this type of taxation by charter counties is preempted by the state.

POINT II -ORANGE COUNTY, ACTING AS A MUNICIPALITY OSTENSIBLY BY VIRTUE OF ITS BEING A CHARTER COUNTY, ENACTED ESTABLISHING UTILITIES ORDINANCE 91-17 А ТАХ PURSUANT TO FLORIDA STATUTES, § 166.231, HOWEVER, FOLLOW ORANGE COUNTY FAILED то THE CORRECT **PROCEDURE IN THE ENACTMENT OF ORDINANCE 91-17**

The Legislature, having plenary power of taxation, is the branch of government that determines who, what, when, where, and how the taxing power of the sovereign may be applied by the various political subdivisions of the state. As said power is plenary, the Legislature through general law has the right and sole power to determine how said taxing power shall be enacted by the political subdivisions.

Florida Statutes, § 166.231 is a general law that authorizes municipalities to enact a utilities tax within the municipality. The Legislature has determined, via Florida Statutes, § 166.041, the procedure to be utilized by a municipality in enacting such a tax.

Orange County claims that it has the power and authority of a municipality to exercise the tax provided for by Florida Statutes, § 166.231. However, in its capacity as a municipality Orange

County failed to follow the dictates of Florida Statutes, § 166.041, therefore, Ordinance 91-17 (AP-1) was not validly enacted and must fall.

POINT III - THE NOTICE OF THE ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE IN THE BOND VALIDATION SUIT FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT OF 1990 AND FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER OF THE CHIEF JUDGE OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT MANDATING THE NOTICE REQUIREMENTS OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT OF 1990

On March 24, 1993, the Honorable William C. Gridley, trial judge below, issued the court's Order To Show Cause (AP-6) in the bond validation proceeding below. Said Order was to be published in a newspaper of general circulation within Orange County in accord with the provision of Florida Statutes, § 75.06.

On April 15, 1993, the Chief Judge of the Ninth Judicial Circuit, in and for Orange County, Florida, the Honorable Frederick Pfeiffer, entered his Administrative Order (AP-11) mandating that the notice requirements of the Americans With Disabilities Act be included with, <u>inter alia</u>, notices of all court proceedings.

The Order To Show Cause was published in <u>The Orlando Sentinel</u> on April 29, 1993 and on May 6, 1993. Said published notices did not contain the required notice language mandated by the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990 and the Administrative Order entered on April 15, 1993.

As said published notices did not comply with the Administrative Order nor the Federal law, the Order below validating the subject bonds should be quashed.

POINT I

ABSENT A GENERAL LAW SO EMPOWERING, ORANGE COUNTY AS A CHARTER COUNTY IS WITHOUT THE POWER OR AUTHORITY TO ENACT A PUBLIC SERVICE TAX PURSUANT TO FLORIDA STATUTES, § 166.231

The power to tax is an essential, integral, and plenary power of the state sovereign. Counties and municipalities, being political subdivisions created by the state, have no inherent power to tax. As counties and municipalities have no inherent power to tax, said entities may impose taxes only as authorized by the Constitution and the general laws of the state. Merely adopting a charter by a county does not alter this fundamental relationship.

On June 23, 1993, the lower court entered its order validating the issuance of Public Service Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1993, in the amount of \$30,000,000.00. (AP-7). As set forth in the County's Complaint For Validation (AP-5) and the Bond Resolutions 92-B-10 (AP-3) and 92-B-11 (AP-4), the proceeds of these bonds are to be utilized for various and sundry purposes including, but not limited to, the purchase of environmentally sensitive lands, roads and other transportation facilities, stormwater facilities, jail facilities, courthouse facilities, other governmental buildings, water and wastewater facilities, solid waste disposal facilities, park and recreation facilities, convention centers, civic centers, auditoriums, and vehicles and equipment pertaining to the foregoing or other governmental operations. The funding source for the repayment of said bonds is the Public Service Tax (hereinafter sometimes referred to as the "utilities tax").

Orange County is a Charter County. Orange County became a charter county pursuant to provisions of Article VIII of the Florida Constitution and Part IV of Chapter 125, Florida Statutes. On August 6, 1991, the Orange County Board of County Commissioners enacted Ordinance 91-17 (AP-1). Said Ordinance established a utilities tax to be paid by the purchaser of certain enumerated utilities. Said utilities tax is to be paid only by residents of the unincorporated area of Orange County. The proceeds of the Series 1993 Bonds, subject of the hearing below, are to be utilized for any legitimate county purpose on a county wide basis, without regard to the location of the project within Orange County.

Orange County is without the power and authority to enact such a utilities tax. As the power to tax is reposed in the sovereign state, counties and municipalities may not impose a tax unless and until they are specifically authorized to do so either by Constitutional provision or general statutory authority.

In imposing the utilities tax, Orange County claimed authority pursuant to Florida Statutes § 166.231. Said statute specifically authorizes municipalities to enact such a tax. Said statute is defeaningly silent as to granting authority to a charter county to enact such a tax.

At the trial in the validation proceeding held below the State of Florida, through the state's attorney, indicated to the court that the state knew of no statutory authority, nor case in point, for Orange County to enact a utility tax pursuant to Florida Statute, § 166.231. (AP-12, p. 28, L. 9-25; p. 29, L. 1-3). Orange County claims authority to enact a public service tax by ordinance pursuant to Florida Statutes, § 166.231 by virtue of being a charter county, and as such have all powers of a municipality.

Orange County, in advancing the hypothesis that a charter county can exercise municipal taxing powers, heavily relies on VOLUSIA COUNTY v. DICKINSON, 269 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1972); STATE ex rel. DADE COUNTY v. BAUTIGAM, 224 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1969); and STATE v. BROWARD COUNTY, 468 So.2d 965 (Fla. 1985). None of the cases cited as support by Orange County deal with a utilities tax imposed, by a charter county, pursuant to Florida Statute, § 166.231, let alone a utilities tax imposed by a charter county only in the unincorporated area of said county.

A very important distinction should be noted in that Dade County was established as a charter county pursuant to the 1885 Florida Constitution. The provisions for Dade County being a charter county were carried through in the 1968 Florida Constitution revision. Chief among those powers granted were that Dade County is specifically authorized to exercise the powers heretofore and hereafter granted municipalities by general law.

Those cases are distinguishable from the case sub judice in very important regards. VOLUSIA was not a question of whether a charter county can enact a utilities tax pursuant to Florida Statutes, § 166.231. VOLUSIA concerned a question of dual taxation in the area of cigarette excise taxes. Additionally, the language contained in VOLUSIA to the effect "[T]hat upon a county becoming

Page 8

a charter county it automatically becomes a metropolitan entity for self-government purposes", VOLUSIA at 10, 11; and "[R]ead together, Sections 9(a), Article VII and 1(g), Article VIII, clearly connote the principle that unless precluded by general or special law, a charter county may, without more under authority of existing general law may impose by ordinance any tax in the area of its tax jurisdiction a municipality may impose[.]" Id. at 11, is inapposite to Orange County having the authority to enact a utilities tax pursuant to Florida Statute § 166.231. This is so, as will be shown below, as such a broad grant and enlargement of charter county power in this area will run afoul of Article III, § 10 of the Constitution of the State of Florida.

Orange County relies upon judicial precedent in areas other than Florida Statutes § 166.231 taxation. As noted above, the cases cited by Orange County do not deal with this specific municipal tax. As the power to tax is plenary with the sovereign state it is improvident for the judiciary to enlarge the taxing authority of any of the political subdivisions of the state.

Since the 1971 opinion in VOLUSIA, the Legislature has amended Florida Statutes § 166.231 a total of fifteen (15) times. The most recent amendment being in 1993. It is of great import to note that in none of the amendments were charter counties, either expressly or by implication, authorized to enact such a utilities tax. It cannot be said that the Legislature has accepted the judicial interpretation that charter counties are authorized to enact such a tax. "Legislative silence does not communicate intent to leave the job to the courts; it merely means the Legislature has not finished the job."

STATE ex rel. DADE COUNTY v. DICKINSON, 230 So.2d 130, at 141 (Fla.1969).

Not only has the Legislature not adopted the judicial interpretations of the authority of charter counties to enact any municipal taxing ordinances, the Attorney General's Office is of the opinion that absent authority pursuant to general law political subdivisions may not operate in areas preempted to the state. See Atty. General's Opinion 74-379. Article VII, § 1(a) provides;

> "No tax shall be levied except in pursuance of law. No state ad valorem taxes shall be levied upon real estate or tangible personal property. All other forms of taxation shall be preempted to the state except as provided by general law." (emphasis supplied)

Orange County as a charter county, in an attempt to exercise powers previously not available, rely on Article VIII, § 1(g) as being a broad grant of powers and as somehow justifying the exercise of municipal taxing powers by a charter county. Said language reads as follows:

> "Counties operating under county charters shall have all powers of local self-government not inconsistent with general law, or with special law approved by vote of the electors. The governing body of a county operating under a charter may enact county ordinances not inconsistent with general law. The charter shall provide which shall prevail in the event of conflict between county and municipal ordinances."

The change in the redistribution of power between the sovereign and the county operating under a charter is to determine, pursuant to the charter itself, whether the county ordinance will prevail over a conflicting municipal ordinance. See D'ALEMBERTE, Commentary on Fla. Const. Art. VIII, § 1; 26A F.S.A. 268-270.

.

Orange County Ordinance 91-17 (AP-1) is violative of Article VII, § 1(a) and § 9(a).

The language "in pursuance of law" denotes that a tax must be enacted in accordance with general law. Absent a general law specifically authorizing such taxation (utilities tax) by a county, charter or noncharter, that taxation power and authority is preempted to the state and may not be exercised by the county.

> "The legislative power delegated by § 1(g), Article 8 to enact ordinances not inconsistent with general law does not carry with it the authority to enact ordinances amending or repealing laws enacted by the state legislature or any part or parts thereof." (emphasis supplied) Attorney General's Opinion 90-27.

The authority for charter counties to enact tax measures is not found in Article VIII, (g), rather, said authority is found in Article 7, (a), 9(a) and such general and special laws as are enacted by the state Legislature. By way of analogy, please see Attorney General's Opinion 87-45.

Absent specified Constitutional or statutory authority for political subdivisions to enact a tax, all taxing power and forms of taxation are preempted to the State. See CITY OF TAMPA, v. BIRDSONG MOTORS, INC., 261 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1972). As there has been no specific statutory or constitutional authorization for charter counties to enact a utilities tax, any attempt to do so by a charter county is ultra vires and therefore void.

What Orange County attempts to do by passing Ordinance 91-17 (AP 1) is to amend a general law of the State of Florida by a local ordinance and attempt to raise revenues for the operation of county government other than by the prescribed method of ad valorem taxation. Orange County is without the power and authority to so amend Florida Statutes § 166.231.

Additionally, Article 8, § 1(h) provides:

"Property situate within municipalities shall not be subject to taxation for services rendered by the county exclusively for the benefit of the property or residents in unincorporated areas."

Ordinance 91-17 (AP-1) provides the revenue source for the Public Service Tax Revenue Bonds pursuant to Resolution 92-B-10, (AP-3) 92-B-11 (AP-4). The proceeds of said bonds can be utilized for, <u>inter alia</u>, any capital improvement project by Orange County and the location of the capital improvement projects can be located anywhere within Orange County including within the various municipalities (AP-2; 3; 4; 5). The end result is that individuals living within any of the thirteen municipalities within Orange County are receving substantial benefits by the expenditure of tax monies on capital improvements, etc., that is derived solely from individuals who reside in the unincorporated areas of the county.

Municipalities are specifically authorized to enact a utilities tax by Florida Statute §166.231. Once the municipality has enacted such a tax, that tax is uniform and applicable to all citizens and electors of the municipality that reside within the municipality and who purchase the specified utilities therein. The delegation of the power to tax from the state sovereign to the political subdivisions of the state does not carry with it the power to exempt from said tax. See Attorney General's Opinion 79Florida Statutes, § 166.231 sets forth certain exemptions that a Municipality may put in place in enacting a Municipal Ordinance establishing a utilities tax pursuant to said section. Noticably absent in the way of exemption is a provision that the Municipality may enforce its utilities tax ordinance in only certain areas within the municipality. If a municipality enacts an ordinance establishing a utilities tax, that tax is applicable to all residents and electors within the corporate boundaries of the enacting municipality.

The Board of County Commissioners is the governing body for Orange County and all citizens, residents, and electors within the corporate boundaries of Orange County. All qualified electors, whether living in the unincorporated area of Orange County or within any of the thirteen incorporated municipalities within Orange County, were entitled to vote for passage of the charter form of county government and the individuals who were elected to the Board of County Commissioners. However, the Board of County Commissioners has determined that this utilities tax shall apply only in the unincorporated areas of the county and shall not apply to any resident of any of the incorporated Municipalities, whether or not said municipality has inacted such a tax on its own.

Stating for purposes of argument only that Orange County as a Charter county has the power and authority to enact a tax pursuant to § 166.231, Orange County does not have the power nor authority to in any way change the provisions of § 166.231 and levy said tax

26.

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