IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 82,443

JOHNIE A. McLEOD,

Appellant/Intervenor,

IN THE MATTER OF:

ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Appellee/Plaintiff,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA, and the Taxpayers, Property Owners and Citizens of Orange County, Florida, including non-residents owning property or subject to taxation therein, and all others having or claiming any right, title or interest in property to be affected by the issuance of the Bonds, herein described, or to be affected thereby,

Defendants.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA; L.T. CASE NO. CI 93-1371

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

In addition to the core argument that a county is not specifically mentioned in section 166.231, Florida Statutes, Intervenor argues that the failure of the Legislature to include counties in the many amendments to section 166.231 since the Volusia County v. Dickinson decision, is evidence of legislative intent not to grant counties this municipal taxing option. In the words of the Intervenor: "Legislative intent is the polestar of

The citation and discussion by Appellant of <u>Dade County v. Dickinson</u>, 230 So.2d 130 (Fla. 1969), is puzzling. The Court in <u>Dade County v. Dickinson</u>, was faced with the application of the millage framework of article VII under the 1968 Constitution in Dade County. The court concluded that the millage limitations applicable to both Dade County and the municipalities within the County was 20 mills, not 30 mills as Dade County had argued. This decision is totally inapplicable to any issue in this appeal.

construction." (Initial Brief, p. 21). Orange County can turn this legislative history against the Intervenor and argue more persuasively that the failure of the Legislature to remove counties from section 166.231, after the Volusia County v. Dickinson decision, reflects an obvious and apparent acceptance of the Court's construction of the constitutional vesting of municipal powers in charter counties. However, such an argument is not required since the legislative record is clear that the municipal power of a charter county to levy the public service tax option granted under section 166.231 is recognized and assumed by the Legislature. For example, during the 1993 Legislative Session, an exception to section 166.231, Florida Statutes, was consideration. The Bill Analysis and Economic Impact Statement prepared by the House of Representatives Committee on Community Affairs which accompanied the proposed bill, HB 105, stated:

I. SUMMARY:

This bill allows municipalities and charter counties that levy the Municipal Public Service Tax to exempt the purchase of natural gas or fuel oil used for agricultural purposes.

II. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS:

A. PRESENT SITUATION:

The Florida Supreme Court has ruled that charter counties, unless specifically precluded by general or special law, may impose by ordinance any tax in the area of its tax jurisdiction as a municipality may impose. State of Florida ex rel.

Volusia County v. Dickinson, 269 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1972). Thus, both charter counties and municipalities may impose the public service tax.

III. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT:

B. FISCAL IMPACTS ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS AS A WHOLE:

2. Recurring Effects:

Indeterminate.

Based on a FY 1990-91 survey of Municipal Public Service Tax Revenues conducted by the Advisory Council on Intergovernmental Relations (ACIR), using fiscal data from the Florida Local Government Information System also compiled by ACIR, municipalities and charter counties received \$540.7 million in public service tax revenue.

(App. 6) (emphasis supplied). Also, the Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement prepared to accompany SB 84, the Florida Senate companion to HB 105, contains substantially identical language acknowledging that charter counties are authorized to levy a tax option granted to municipalities. (App. 7).

These staff analyses are accorded deference by the Florida courts. In <u>Department of Environmental Regulation v. SCM Glidco Organics Corp.</u>, 606 So.2d 722 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), the Court construed a statute and noted, "Staff analyses of legislation should be accorded significant respect in determining legislative

intent." Id. at 725. A court's reliance on staff analysis is reasonable since the Legislature "is presumed to be cognizant of the judicial construction of a statute when contemplating making changes in the statute." Quigley v. Quigley, 463 So.2d 224, 226 (Fla. 1985).

The constitutional vesting of municipal powers in a charter county is ingrained in the common understanding of all charter counties, their county attorneys, and the Legislature. Such understanding is firmly grounded in the clear precedent of the Volusia County v. Dickinson decision and its predecessors. Any retreat from such unambiguous precedent would be a fatal blow to the predictability of all local government power and would undermine the confidence of local government officials in relying on settled case law to determine the extent of their governmental power. The ripple of such a dramatic departure from precedent would create a financial crisis in Orange County and other charter counties throughout Florida.

At issue in this appeal is the validation of the Bonds whose payment is secured by the Public Service Tax. However, the Public Service Tax was initially levied by the County in 1991. Since October 1, 1991, the Public Service Tax proceeds have been levied on taxable transactions occurring within the unincorporated areas of Orange County and budgeted and expended for essential county services.

Other Florida charter counties have also levied the section 166.231 public service tax and budgeted and expended the tax

revenues for essential county services. Alachua County levied its public service tax by the enactment of a county ordinance on July 28, 1992. (Alachua County Ordinance No. 92-16; App. 8-E) Palm Beach County levied its public service tax by the enactment of a county ordinance on July 18, 1989. (Palm Beach County Ordinance No. 89-13; App. 8-F). Seminole County levied its public service tax by the enactment of a county ordinance on September 9, 1991. (Seminole County Ordinance No. 91-12; App. 8-G). Volusia County levied its public service tax on September 6, 1985, by enactment of a county ordinance. (Volusia County Ordinance No. 85-17; App. 8-H).

An abrupt retreat by the Court from settled precedent on the constitutional municipal power of charter counties will bring a fiscal crisis to each of these counties. The Final Judgment is squarely within the four corners of the <u>Volusia County v. Dickinson</u> decision and those cases that preceded and followed it in establishing the constitutional scope of the municipal powers of charter counties.

II. THE ENACTMENT OF THE PUBLIC SERVICE TAX
ORDINANCE BY ORANGE COUNTY WAS AN
EXERCISE OF ITS CONSTITUTIONAL POWER AS
A CHARTER COUNTY, NOT A MUNICIPALITY, AND
ORANGE COUNTY LAWFULLY FOLLOWED THE
ORDINANCE ENACTMENT PROCEDURE MANDATED
UNDER CHAPTER 125, FLORIDA STATUTES.

Orange County, and each charter county that has levied the section 166.231 public service tax has done so by the enactment of a county ordinance under the procedures required in section 125.66, Florida Statutes. This consistent procedural selection by all of the charter counties is not a coincidence but a matter of constitutional and statutory mandates.

Section 1(i), article VIII, Florida Constitution provides:

Each county ordinance shall be filed with the secretary of state and shall become effective at such time thereafter as is provided by general law.

This constitutional requirement applies to each county, whether charter or non-charter. No similar constitutional filing mandate exists for municipal ordinances.

Section 125.66, Florida Statutes, establishes the enactment procedure for county ordinances, whether charter or non-charter:

(1) In exercising the ordinance-making powers conferred by s. 1, Art. VIII of the State Constitution, counties <u>shall</u> adhere to the procedures prescribed herein.

§ 125.66(1), Fla. Stat. (emphasis supplied). By its express language, all counties are required to use this section 125.66 procedure for ordinance enactment.

The most fundamental principle of county home rule is that a charter county has no authority to legislate in a manner

inconsistent with general law. "Counties operating under a county charter shall have all powers of local self-government not inconsistent with general law...." § 1(g), Art. VIII, Fla. Const. Having established the exclusive procedural method for the enactment of county ordinances by the general law provision of section 125.66, a county cannot legislate by ordinance in a different manner and pursuant to a different statutory procedure. 8

The procedural enactment process established in section 125.66, Florida Statutes, provides the exclusive mechanism for county ordinance enactment similar to the millage setting provisions established by general law that were considered in Board of County Commissioners of Dade County v. Wilson, 386 So.2d 556 (Fla. 1980). In this decision, the Court invalidated a proposed county ordinance purporting to establish a four mill limitation on ad valorem taxation levied by Dade County on the grounds of conflict with general law provisions establishing ad valorem millage limitations. See also Board of County Commissioners of Marion County v. McKeever, 436 So.2d 299 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983).

Intervenor argues that somehow the County becomes a municipality when it exercises its constitutional municipal powers or performs municipal functions. This argument demonstrates a fundamental misunderstanding of charter county government and confuses the concept of charter county powers with the statutory

⁸ Section 166.041(6), Florida Statutes, clearly expresses that its procedural requirement applies only to ordinance enactment by a municipality: "The procedure as set forth herein shall constitute a uniform method for the adoption and enactment of municipal ordinances ..." (emphasis supplied).

procedural mandates on its exercise. The exercise of its constitutionally vested municipal powers does not alter the status of Orange County as a county. Orange County is a not a municipality. However, as a charter county, Orange County has constitutionally vested municipal powers. One of these powers is the ability to levy any municipal tax provided by general law. In exercising this power, legislatively, by the enactment of an ordinance, Orange County remains a county. As such, the County "shall adhere" to the procedural requirements for county ordinance enactment in section 125.66.

A county ordinance levying a section 166.231 public service tax is constitutionally required under section 1, article VIII, Florida Constitution, to be filed with the Florida Secretary of State in the same manner as all other county ordinances. To require a charter county levying a section 166.231 public service tax to adopt an ordinance under the procedures established for the adoption of an ordinance by a municipality would be inconsistent with the general law provisions of section 125.66 and a distortion of the common understanding of the manner by which governmental powers are exercised by charter counties.

III. NO VIOLATION OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT NOR THE CIRCUIT COURT ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER OCCURRED WHEN THE CLERK PUBLISHED THE ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE.

On April 15, 1993, the Chief Judge for the Ninth Judicial Circuit issued Administrative Order 07-92-26 (the "Circuit Court Administrative Order") which stated that communications noticing court proceedings provide certain information so that persons with disabilities needing special accommodations could contact the individual or agency sending the notice to ensure that reasonable accommodations were available. (App. 10).

A copy of the Order to Show Cause entered March 24, 1993, was published pursuant to the notice requirements of section 75.06, Florida Statutes. The Intervenor appeared and participated in the validation hearing noticed in the Order to Show Cause. (App. 11). In addition, Intervenor is a practicing attorney who resides in Orange County and is familiar with the available court facilities. Intervenor also knows the officials of Orange County and the individuals to contact in the event a special accommodation was needed for him at the validation hearing. Finally, Intervenor, in this cause and other matters, has been an active participant in judicial proceedings involving Orange County and has filed numerous pleadings in the case on appeal.

Intervenor argues in the Initial Brief that the Final Judgment should be "quashed" because of the absence, in the published Order to Show Cause, of the notice described in the Circuit Court Administrative Order and because of a failure to

comply with, "federal law as enumerated in the Americans with Disabilities Act." (Initial Brief, p. 33).

The procedural requirements for noticing a bond validation proceeding are contained in chapter 75, Florida Statutes, and are the following:

The Court shall issue an order directed against the state and the several property owners, taxpayers, citizens and others having or claiming any right, title or interest in property to be affected by the issuance of bonds ... requiring all persons in general terms ... to appear at a designated time and place within the circuit where the complaint is filed and show why the complaint should not be granted and the proceedings and bonds ... validated. A copy of the complaint and order shall be served on the state attorney of the circuit in which such proceedings are pending

§ 75.05, Fla. Stat. Chapter 75 further requires that "[b]efore the date set for hearing, the clerk shall publish a copy of the order in the county where the complaint is filed ... at least once each week for 2 consecutive weeks." § 75.06, Fla. Stat. So long as the circuit court substantially complies with these requirements and no prejudice results to a party from any irregularities in the procedure, the court has acted properly. See Stewart v. City of DeLand, 75 So.2d 584 (Fla. 1954) ("Chapter 75 ... defines the procedure for validating bonds ..."); and State v. City of Sarasota, 17 So.2d 109, 111 (Fla. 1944) ("The [bond] proceedings must in substance be in compliance with the statutory requirements").

In <u>Stewart v. City of DeLand</u>, the Supreme Court of Florida rejected a challenge to the order to show cause where the order was

issued pursuant to chapter 75, Florida Statutes, except that the order misidentified the court to which any objecting parties were to appear and except that the clerk failed to furnish a copy of the order to the state attorney. 75 So.2d at 585.

These errors on the part of the circuit court in <u>Stewart v.</u> <u>City of DeLand</u> at most were technical and procedural in nature just as the complaint by the Intervenor that the published Order to Show Cause did not include the notice language of the Circuit Court Administrative Order is technical and procedural. Furthermore, the Intervenor in <u>Stewart v. City of DeLand</u>, like here, appeared at the proper time and at the proper place to voice his objections to the bond validation. 75 So.2d at 585. The Court in <u>Stewart v. City of DeLand</u> upheld the bond validation despite the procedural problems and noted the following:

Chapter 75 does not require the order to show cause to set the hearing at the courthouse but it may be held at any place designated in the The record shows that the order to circuit. was published in the show cause provided by law, that it gave the required notice of hearing and that it was duly filed and recorded in the office of the Clerk of the After all is said, appellant Circuit Court. was present at the hearing, took part in it offered no evidence to support contention. He is not in a position to complain.

Id.

Likewise, in this case, even if the Circuit Court Administrative Order required that the published Order to Show Cause to identify the individuals to be contacted for special accommodations, the failure to include such information in the

published order was not a violation of chapter 75, Florida Statutes. First, Intervenor knew of the hearing, attended, and made his objections known. Second, Intervenor does not allege that he or any other individual was prejudiced by the absence of the language contained in the Circuit Court Administrative Order. Third, failure to include the notice was at most a technical or procedural error within the meaning of the Stewart v. City of DeLand decision. Last, in all respects, the Circuit Court and its Clerk adhered to the requirements of chapter 75, Florida Statutes. Section 75.06 requires the clerk to publish the precise order entered by the Circuit Court and the Clerk in this case published that Order. Any failure to include the notice in the Order was harmless error.

In Florida, harmless error is error that "does not injuriously affect the substantial rights of the complaining party." Anthony V. Douglas, 201 So.2d 917, 919 (Fla. 4th DCA 1967). Conversely, an appellate court reverses an error

only when considering all the facts peculiar to the particular case under scrutiny, it is reasonably probable that a result more favorable to the appellant would have been reached if the error had not been committed.

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